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FOREWORD


This version of the story of Leicester attempts a quick journey through the last 2,000 years, tracing both changes and continuities. The first episode belongs to the Romano-British town of Ratae that once stood on the site of Leicester and which thrived for more than 300 years before disappearing into obscurity. During the next six or so centuries we catch only brief glimpses of the town in various phases – as a Mercian bishopric, as a Danish borough, as an English town – until the Normans describe it fully for us in the Domesday Book. The story then moves on to Catholic, medieval Leicester, a busy market town under the control of the lord at the castle, though struggling and gradually gaining more independence. There follows change under the Tudors: stately buildings are destroyed, the town becomes a Protestant stronghold and poverty is widespread in the town for lack of a staple industry. During civil war, the townspeople suffer still more when the Royalists sack the town. More welcome change comes in the late seventeenth and eighteenth centuries when the town prospers as an agricultural centre, people in the town and county take to manufacturing stockings and better roads, and canals open up the town to the outside world. The hosiery industry, though, does not live up to its early promise, and poor working conditions and a fluctuating market make the life of the framework knitters hard. Improvements are made to the town and, for those with money, a round of entertainments are available. The story of nineteenth-century Leicester is a complex story of political reform, population expansion, public health issues the emergence of shoe manufacture, industrialisation, suburbanisation and the rebuilding of much of the town centre. Late Victorian Leicester is also a town with a vibrant organised social life. In the twentieth century, Leicester is a more democratic and inclusive place but the survival of the traditional industries into the late century maintains a strong continuity with the past. The latest episode of Leicester history is full of change, the city has been enriched by new cultures and the old occupations have largely gone. Many of the old buildings have gone too but there is still enough remaining to remind us of the past.


In writing this account of the story of Leicester I have drawn very extensively on existing literature. I have acknowledged the writers, I hope sufficiently, in my notes to the text and have greatly enjoyed reading their work. A special mention, however, must be made of the work of the late Professor Jack Simmons whose work has been drawn on in every chapter. His Leicester Past and Present is an absorbing and scholarly piece of work with which I would not have the audacity to compete.




one


BEGINNINGS


Romans, Anglo-Saxons and Danes


Ratae Corieltavorum: the Settlement at the Crossroads


The twelfth-century chronicler Geoffrey of Monmouth created a myth that Leicester was named after King Lear, and that the legendary king was buried somewhere in the city or close by. Sadly for all of us who have enjoyed this story, there is no historical evidence to support it. All we know about the origins of Leicester is that there was an Iron Age settlement on the bank of the River Soar, and from this developed the Romano-British town of Ratae.1 No contemporary historian recorded the history of Ratae, and therefore what we know about the town stems from archaeology, wider historical knowledge and speculation. Much is owed to an excavation of the Roman baths in the 1930s and later projects led by archaeologists based at the University of Leicester, including the recent excavations in the Highcross area.2


At the time of the Roman conquest, Iron Age Britain was inhabited by a variety of different tribes, each commanding certain geographical areas of land. Ratae was a settlement of the Corieltavi tribe, who were associated with a large swathe of territory in what is today’s East Midlands, including the lands that would later become Leicestershire, Nottinghamshire and Lincolnshire. The tribe had trading links with Gaul as well as other parts of Britain and they minted their own coins. Their settlement by the Soar had been established for at least a hundred years before the Romans arrived, and although details of the life led here are obscure, excavations have unearthed pottery, jewellery and coins as well as revealing traces of roundhouses.3


When Julius Caesar invaded Britain in 54 BC, Britain was to the Romans a place beyond the boundaries of the known world, and the success of Caesar’s adventure won him considerable prestige in Rome. Back in Britain, however, the Roman troops did not venture beyond the south, and it was not until nearly a hundred years later, after the second Roman invasion in AD 43, that the invaders advanced on the Midlands and arrived at Ratae. The name Ratae derives from a Celtic word meaning ramparts, a derivation shared by certain Irish place names such as Rathmines. Such a name might suggest that Ratae was a defended settlement, though no evidence has been found that local people put up any resistance to the Romans.4
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The Roman Milestone at Belgrave Gate: a drawing by Leicester artist John Flower (1793–1861). This milestone was discovered in 1771 near Thurmaston. In 1783 it was moved to Belgrave Gate, and in 1844 to the Town Museum. In 2013 it is in the Jewry Wall museum. This image is taken from J. Flower, Views of Ancient Buildings in the Town and County of Leicester (Leicester, 1825), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


The settlement at Ratae held a key geographical position near a crossroads and a river crossing. The Romans drove a main road, the Fosse Way, between Devon and Lincoln, and close to Ratae this road met a second route extending from east to west, later known as the Gartree Road. It is sometimes said of modern Leicester that it is a place that people go through to get to other destinations, and while this characterisation is annoyingly dismissive there is a certain geographical truth to it that dates back to the time of Ratae.


Early Roman development of the settlement was modest. It is uncertain whether the Romans established a garrison at Ratae, as the archaeological evidence is inconclusive. The geographical features of the site, however, made it a probable choice for military occupation: a river crossing, in particular, was always vulnerable. If there was a garrison, however, the troops would doubtless have left by around AD 80, when the Roman legions moved further north and west in a campaign to extend their territories.
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These markings on the Roman milestone record a distance of two miles from Ratae. The inscription translated reads: ‘To the Emperor and Caesar, the august Trajan Hadrian, surnamed Particus, grandson of the divine Nerva Pontifex Maximus, four times invested with tribunitial power, three times consul: from Ratae two miles.’ This image is taken from J. Nichols, The History and Antiquities of the County of Leicester, Vol. 1. Part I., The Town of Leicester (London, 1795); courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections. The translation of the inscription is taken from www.Leicester.co.uk/roman/16/accessed 12 July 2013.


It was in the second century AD that Ratae began to develop into a sophisticated town. The Romans maintained control of it by making it a civitas, an administrative capital for the region run by the local tribal aristocracy but in accordance with Roman procedures. It was a well-used approach throughout the Empire and was applied in a variety of middle-sized settlements in Britain. At the top of the hierarchy of Romano-British towns were York, Lincoln, Colchester and Gloucester. These were the coloniae, centres where Romans, often veteran legionaries who had been given land, formed a large part of the local population. Less prestigious than the coloniae, the civitas capitals were also important towns on the urban network, and their development was planned so that they could perform their administrative responsibilities as well as fulfilling the commerce and leisure functions that Roman culture expected towns to provide. The colonia of Lincoln was in the northern part of the Corieltavi region, and therefore Ratae, in the south of the region, was a logical site for the administrative capital.


Ratae Corieltavorum: Romano-British Town


In the early second century a street grid was laid out, with individual plots reserved for building, and in the early to mid-century two major stone public buildings, the public baths and the forum, were constructed at the heart of the town. The remains of the baths can still be seen in Leicester today at a site by St Nicholas Circle, flanked on one side by the Jewry Wall Museum and on the other by St Nicholas church. All that is left of the interior is the outline of the different chambers, which provided hot, cold and tepid baths as well as changing rooms and latrines. There was a hypocaust providing underfloor heating and furnaces to heat the hot baths, but it is uncertain how the water supply was organised. The buildings were enclosed by porticoes on the south side as well as on the north side, where there may also have been a row of shops.5


On the west side, by St Nicholas church, there still stands an impressive stretch of Roman wall with two arches, thought to have been an entrance into the baths from an adjacent ‘exercise hall’, the remains of which lie under the church. The wall has long been known locally as the Jewry Wall, and many suggestions have been made about the origins of the name. Most recent scholarship suggests that it dates from the late medieval or early modern period and that there was no connection between the wall and a Jewish community living in Leicester; rather the name derived from a tendency among Gentiles of the period to attribute unusual and mysterious things to the Jews.6


There was also a building close by the baths on the site of St Nicholas Circle, apparently constructed in the late second century. This was a basilica with a 20ft aisle and a 50ft nave that may have been a temple dedicated to Mithras.


The forum was situated just east of the baths and comprised an open piazza flanked by ranges of porticoes on the west, east and south sides, with a basilica at the north end. In the basilica, local officials and their staff would have conducted public business, while the open centre of the forum was for markets and meetings. There would most likely also have been shops in the forum porticoes looking inwards to the piazza and possibly also outwards to the street.


In the late second or early third century a large market hall, or macellum, was constructed directly north of the forum. Like the forum this also had an open court bounded by colonnades, in between which were individual shops. This provision for extra market space is testament to the fact that Ratae was a prosperous and growing commercial centre.


As well as public works, there were also private building projects in the town. These included workplace accommodation and simple dwellings as well as more elaborate houses. A luxurious private house was excavated in the late 1950s at Blue Boar Lane, on a site that now lies under Vaughan Way. This was a courtyard house erected in the early second century and improved some decades later with decoration that included floor mosaics as well as elaborate wall frescos depicting mythological scenes. The quality of the wall paintings was outstanding in comparison with most of the fresco work in Roman Britain, and as a result it has been speculated that perhaps an Italian or Gaulish artist lived in Ratae at this time.7


Some attractive mosaic floors from other well-appointed houses have also been found. A geometric mosaic discovered at Blackfriars is considered to be an exceptionally fine example of Romano-British work, and another attractive floor, also of geometric design and with a centrepiece depicting a peacock spreading its feathers, was found in excavations at St Nicholas Street. A further mosaic pavement, first discovered near All Saints’ church in the seventeenth century, is a representation of Cyparissus and the stag – recalling the story of a boy who, inconsolable after killing his pet deer by mistake, was turned into a cypress tree, a tree forever linked with sadness, by the god Apollo. This mosaic, intriguing but of lower quality than the others mentioned, is a later creation from a fourth-century house.
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A detail from the mosaic depicting Cyparissus and the stag. This was discovered near All Saints’ church in the seventeenth century. This image is taken from J. Throsby, The History and Antiquities of the Ancient Town of Leicester (Leicester, 1791), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


The largest private Roman house excavated in Leicester so far is a villa discovered at Vine Street during the Highcross excavations in the early 2000s. This stone-built house, which had a central courtyard and twenty-six rooms, some with underfloor heating from a hypocaust, clearly belonged to a citizen of exceptional wealth.8


In addition to its central area of public buildings and houses, Ratae also had suburbs. Between the early and mid-second century, suburban building rapidly extended from the town centre in all directions. Just as now, some housing locations had more status than others: the wealthier suburban housing was predominantly found in the western part of the town and alongside the Fosse Way. A particularly fine suburban dwelling, long known in Leicester as Danett’s Hill or Cherry Orchard Villa, was situated to the west, surrounded by farmland, on the opposite side of the river from the central public buildings.


In the third century, stone town walls were built for the first time, replacing earthworks that had been constructed in the previous century. It is believed that these walls, like those of many other towns, may have been reinforced in the fourth century when city defence would have seemed more urgent. Soldiers of Germanic origin from the Roman army were also stationed in some Romano-British towns to strengthen defence, and certain belt fittings found in Leicester suggest soldiers of this type may been in Ratae.9


The People of Ratae


Unfortunately very little is known about individual inhabitants of the Romano-British town. It was a town of significant size at the heart of the road network, and therefore between the first and the fourth century it seems likely that, in addition to the descendants of the indigenous Corieltavi, the residents included some Latins, people from other parts of Britain and possibly a few residents from other parts of the Roman Empire.


Only fragments of more personal information remain. We know that one resident of the town was Adcobrovatus, whose son M. Ulpius Novanticus was a soldier in a British cohort of the Roman Army in AD 106. This information comes from an army discharge certificate that was found in Porolissum, in modern Romania. The certificate, awarded to Novanticus, gave the details of his origin as Ratae, where he must have enlisted in the early days of Roman occupation, and also reveals that while in the service of the army he was awarded Roman citizenship.10


The names of a few other townspeople are known to us from items found in Leicester. One of these is a piece of limestone bearing the name C. Pal Gracilis, engraved in the manner of a tradesman’s stamp. A tile has also been found inscribed with the words Primus X fecit (‘Primus has made ten’). It seems that Primus was a tile maker who at least on this occasion decided to record how many tiles he had made. A further evocative fragment left to us is a piece of Samian pottery linking two names, Verecunda Lydia and Lucius, a gladiator, suggesting a romantic attraction or attachment. Nothing further is known about the couple; one or both may have been a visitor to the town. The mention of a gladiator suggests that there may have been an amphitheatre at Ratae, although no remains have been found. It is possible that a temporary amphitheatre could have been constructed for special occasions and visiting entertainers.11


While we know little about the individuals who lived at Ratae, recent archaeological findings have provided us with new information about the diet of the townspeople. There were wells in the town for drinking water, and meat, fish, eggs, cereals, vegetables and fruit and dairy products were all consumed. In the early days of Roman Ratae it seems that mutton was popular, but beef later supplanted this as the most favoured type of meat. Poultry was also part of the diet, as well as freshwater fish, eel and seafood, including mussels, whelks and oysters, thought to have been imported from the Essex coast. The cereals enjoyed were for the most part wheat and barley, and the fruit and vegetables eaten included legumes, leaf beet, plums and apples. Items such as imported olive oil and dates added some luxury to the basics that were locally available, as did wines imported from Italy, Gaul and Rhodes.12 Of course there were varying levels of wealth and status in the town, and this would have been reflected in diet, just as it was in housing.
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A fragment of pottery bearing the names Verecunda Lydia and Lucius Gladiator, a possible romantic attachment. This image is taken from W. Kelly, Royal Progresses and Visits to Leicester (Leicester, 1884), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


Although Ratae was clearly a significant commercial centre, very few details of the industry and crafts carried out in the town are known, although there are fragments of information that provide glimpses of working life. Activities included sand and gravel quarrying in the second and third centuries, and it is thought that these materials were used for metalling streets and yards. At the same period there were horners and possibly tanners working in the town, and other work included bronze/brass-casting, boneworking, ironworking, metalworking and glassmaking.13


The final years of Roman Ratae are obscure. For much of the fourth century it is believed that a settled and prosperous life continued, with renovations made at the forum and roads well maintained.14 However, in the later years of the century the public buildings of the town were badly damaged by fire, and there was apparently no attempt to fully repair this damage, suggesting that the town was perhaps lacking in resources and on the decline.15 During these later years, of course, the whole Roman Empire was severely threatened as barbarian peoples breached the imperial frontiers. This resulted in a series of troop withdrawals from Britain, as Rome sought to deal with the pressure in other parts of the Empire. Britain was under threat of attack from Saxons, Picts and Scots, but when British leaders appealed to Rome in 410 for military help this was not granted, and the cities of Britain were told that they were responsible for their own defence.


The links with Rome were crumbling, but the full implications of the change would only have gradually become evident, as villas and public buildings began to decay and barter replaced coinage. Up until the mid-fifth century it is likely that there was still some kind of central authority in Britain. There is evidence that at this time there was still a functioning town life in some larger towns, including Verulanium, Cirencester and Silchester, though it is not certain what was happening in Ratae.16 By the end of the century, however, the urban life that had been such a significant feature of Roman Britain had collapsed.


Saxon and Danish Leicester


A scarcity of written sources means that our knowledge of Britain in the fifth and sixth centuries is very limited. However, an account of the period written by the British cleric Gildas recorded that by 550 most of the island was under the sway of Germanic invaders.17 These migrants, usually called Anglo-Saxons for convenience, comprised three main groups, Angles, Saxons and Jutes, and those who settled in the Midlands came to be known as the Middle Angles.18


It is difficult to reconstruct what happened locally during these early years, but archaeological evidence shows that the Angles formed settlements near to the Trent and Welland, the rivers by which they probably arrived, and that later settlements spread to the Soar Valley. To what extent the town that had been Ratae was inhabited at this time, or what happened to the native townspeople after the Roman departure, is unclear. Finds of fifth- to sixth-century Anglo-Saxon jewellery and traces of early Anglo-Saxon houses suggest that some of the migrants settled in the ruins of the town. There may have been conflict between the settlers and any native inhabitants who remained, but as yet there is no evidence of this, and it could be that if there were any townspeople left the newcomers were just absorbed into that population.19


A more personal trace of the period comes not from Leicester itself but from nearby Glen Parva, the remains of the so-called Glen Parva lady. This was a skeleton dating from around 600 that was accidentally uncovered at Rye Hill in 1866 and later identified as a young woman aged about 20. She had been buried fully clothed, and among the items found with her were the brooches that had fastened her tunic, and a girdle hanger shaped in the form of a Roman key; this indicated her identity as a married woman with authority in her household. Another item of interest buried with her was a necklace that included a Roman bead. It is thought that the new settlers may have found a superstitious meaning in such relics from the more sophisticated Roman past, and used them as charms. It is clear that the Glen Parva lady was relatively wealthy, but there are no clues pointing towards who she was or why she died. Even so, the story of her discovery and the reconstruction of her appearance presented at the Jewry Wall Museum in Leicester helps bring alive this largely unaccounted-for era in local history.20


Different groups of Anglo-Saxon settlers eventually became identified with three main kingdoms, Northumbria, Wessex and Mercia. These were formed through power struggles and warfare between a constellation of smaller kingdoms and tribal groupings, and in the seventh century the Middle Angles were brought under the control of Mercia by the warlord Penda. Since the late sixth century new links had been established with Rome, this time through the missionaries of the Christian Church, and by the mid-seventh century Christianity was widespread in Britain. When the son of Penda was converted, missionaries were sent among the Middle Angles, and new monasteries were founded, including those at Peterborough and Breedon.21


ETHELFLOEDA: LADY OF THE MERCIANS




In a corner of the Guildhall courtyard in Leicester is a small statue inscribed with the name Ethelfloeda. This is the image of a Mercian queen, a shadowy but nevertheless important figure in the history of Leicester – for she and her armies liberated the town from the Vikings in 918.


Ethelfloeda, whose name can be also found in the forms Ethelfleda or Aethelflaed, was the eldest child of Alfred the Great, King of the West Saxons. Like her father she was confronted with the need to defend home territory during the Viking wars. She also fought to recapture the lands that had been lost to the invaders, furthering Alfred’s aim of uniting the kingdoms of Britain into one Christian kingdom.


As a young woman, Ethelfloeda had left the West Saxon kingdom to marry Ethelred, King of Mercia. The leading role that she came to play in government was, for a woman of her culture and period, highly unusual, and seems to have been encouraged by Ethelred’s increasingly poor health.


After the death of her husband, Ethelfloeda succeeded him as ruler of Mercia and became known as Lady of the Mercians. She continued her husband’s policy of building strategically placed fortified towns, which acted both as a defence and as a base for attack, and she led campaigns against the Vikings that were coordinated with those of her brother Edward, successor to King Alfred. In 917, Ethelfloeda’s armies scored a significant victory when the Danish borough of Derby was recaptured, and in early 918 the Vikings peacefully surrendered Leicester.


Ethelfloeda died at Tamworth later in the same year and was buried in the minster in Gloucester. Her daughter succeeded her, but was soon supplanted and sent to a nunnery by her uncle, Edward of the West Saxons, who then took over the government of Mercia.


Sources


M. Costambeys, ‘Aethelflaed (d.918)’ Oxford Dictionary of National Biography (Oxford, 2004), www.oxforddnb.com/view/article8907, accessed 28 October 2012; D. Stansbury, The Lady Who Fought the Vikings (Plymouth, 1993); F.T. Wainwright, ‘Aethelflaed Lady of the Mercians’ in (ed.) H.P.R. Finberg, Scandinavian England: Collected Papers by F.T. Wainwright (Chichester, 1975), pp.305–24; I.W. Walker, Mercia and the Making of England (Stroud, 2000).





Leicester remerged from obscurity as a place of importance on the Christian network when in 679 it was made a bishopric. There is little information about this besides the names of the bishops, but artifacts found at Breedon show that new contacts were made between the area and other parts of Britain, as well as with Ireland and the Continent, and we know that one eighth-century Leicester bishop, Torthelm, exchanged letters with St Boniface.22 However, the bishopric of Leicester proved fragile and short lived. It lapsed in 679, and though it was revived in 737 it only lasted until the 870s, when the Danes invaded the region. The Mercian leaders, unable to withstand the Viking onslaught, surrendered their eastern territories to the invaders, and Danish Mercia became an important part of those occupied lands known collectively as the Danelaw.


Leicester, together with Stamford, Nottingham, Derby and Lincoln, all fell within the occupied territory, and while they were in the Danelaw they were recreated as five boroughs or fortified towns. Saxon Wessex remained independent of the Danes, and under the rule of King Alfred the idea of an English Christian kingdom began to develop, a kingdom that would unite the Angles of the Midlands and the Saxons of the south. Alfred’s successors made this vision a reality between the years 911 and 918 when, with a combination of Wessex and Mercian military power they recovered the occupied lands of Danish Mercia and took control of East Anglia to gain an English victory. Leicester was recovered in 918 after a negotiated surrender.


It was after this victory that Leicestershire was created as an entity, when the districts surrounding the five boroughs each took on their borough’s name. The Viking threat, however, had not permanently retreated, and during the tenth and eleventh century the region came under Scandanavian control twice more. In 939 Norwegian Vikings took the area for a two-year period and in 1013 the five boroughs fell again to the Danes, shortly before the whole of England was brought under the Danish rule of King Canute; a rule that lasted until the Anglo-Saxon lineage was restored in 1042 under Edward the Confessor. The legacy of Scandinavian rule in Leicestershire is reflected in the local place-names of Leicestershire, where the common Danish ending ‘by’, in names such as Oadby and Frisby, is particularly widespread.


Although little detail is known about Leicester and its hinterland in the years between the collapse of Roman Britain and the Norman Conquest, we know that the people who lived there gradually cleared the forest and developed the land for open field agriculture. Most of the Leicestershire villages that we know today have roots in the Mercian period, and so were founded long before the Normans arrived. By the time of the Conquest a small English town on the site of the Romano-British town of Ratae was well established. The origin of the name Leicester is surrounded in mystery, but it is believed to mean ‘the fortified town of the folk called the Legore’.23 It is not known when the name Ratae fell into disuse, but by 803 we find the Bishop of Leicester referred to as Legorensis civitatis episcopus. The name Ligore is thought to be derived from an ancient river-name Legra, related to the French river-name Loire, and it is thought this name is echoed in both the word Leicester and in the name of a village south of Leicester called Leire. It is not certain, though, that the Legra, rather than the Soar, was ever the name given to the part of the river that flowed past the town’s site. The name of the town only gradually developed into its modern form, but after the Normans arrived in England they recorded the place-name as ‘Ledecestre’, not so different from the name we know today.24




two


MEDIEVAL LEICESTER


The Lords, the Townspeople and the Clerics


After the Norman Conquest of 1066, William the Conqueror set out to secure his authority, and for this purpose he built a string of castles throughout the country. There is no exact record, but it is likely that Leicester Castle had been built by 1068, situated in the south of the town on the bank of the River Soar. It was a typical Norman castle of the motte-and-bailey type. The motte was an earthen mound topped by a timber palisade, designed to tower above the town and provide a lookout over the river and surrounding countryside, and below this there was the court or bailey, encircled by a stockade and ditch.1 This was to become the base of the new Norman overlord of Leicester, and in the centuries that followed, both the castle and local lands would come under the auspices of a series of Norman and then Plantagenet lords.


How the residents of Leicester reacted to the arrival of the Normans and the building of the castle is not recorded but there is no evidence of extended resistance. For those at the very bottom of the social structure, struggling to survive, this may not have seemed a change of great importance. For people with more to lose it may well have seemed expedient just to cooperate. Certainly, those who resisted in other parts of the country found they were ruthlessly brought to heel.


Another way in which William consolidated his victory was through the compilation of the Domesday Book. This was a thorough inventory of the lands and other assets that the new king had acquired, a survey that would help him extract the maximum revenue from his subjects. The section concerning Leicester was completed in 1086. A side-effect of this tax assessment exercise was that it has provided posterity with a detailed description of Leicester, revealing what had developed at the site since the collapse of the Roman town of Ratae. Leicester was now a town of around 2,000 inhabitants, approximately 378 houses, two mills and six churches.2 The town was bordered in the north by woodland, and on the other sides lay three great open fields: South Field, West Field and East Field.


The story of Leicester in the four centuries following the Conquest has three major interweaving strands. The first strand belongs to the Norman and then Plantagenet lords, who wielded power locally and were also politicians of national importance. The second narrative concerns the townspeople, who struggled to build a prosperous trading town with a clear civic identity and a measure of independence from their rulers. Finally there is the story of a conventional, medieval Catholic town with many churches, friaries and a famed abbey, but also an early centre of religious dissent.


Power and Ambition: the Castle and the Medieval Overlords of Leicester


The Grandmesnils and the Beaumonts


The magnates who ruled from the castle in the centuries after the Conquest brought both benefits and disasters to Leicester. Some improved the environment and added stately buildings to the town, and this, combined with the national status of some of the lords, brought a certain prestige, even splendour, to Leicester during the medieval centuries. Less positively, the personal ambition of several magnates provoked royal retribution, and when punishment came it was the townspeople who were made to suffer for the misdemeanours of the lord.3


The first two Norman incumbents of the castle at Leicester, Hugh de Grandmesnil and his son Ivo, left a predominantly negative legacy. Hugh de Grandmesnil had fought alongside William the Conqueror at the Battle of Hastings and was rewarded with ‘the honour’ of Leicester, which meant that he held dominion over the castle and a group of estates in both Leicestershire and the wider Midlands. There were a number of landowners in Leicester, including the king himself, but the Domesday Book records Hugh de Grandmesnil as the largest landowner in the town, personally owning two churches and 110 houses, and sharing ownership of twenty-four more houses with the king. Although Hugh de Grandmesnil derived considerable income from Leicester there is no evidence that he contributed anything significant to the welfare of the town. When Ivo succeeded his father the situation became worse. As well as engaging in private warfare in the Midlands, Ivo’s ambition led him to join a rebellion against Henry I in 1101. Retaliation came quickly, and the royal forces attacked both the castle and the town of Leicester, causing severe damage. Ivo escaped retribution by going on a crusade, from which he never returned.
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Coins from the period of Robert de Beaumont. This image is taken from J. Nichols, The History and Antiquities of the County of Leicester, Vol. 1. Part I., The Town of Leicester (London, 1795), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


After the demise of the Grandmesnils the honour of Leicester was transferred to the Beaumont family, and in 1107 Robert de Beaumont was created the first Earl of Leicester. Beaumont is a name still remembered today in Leicester; examples include Beaumont Leys, a modern suburb, and Beaumont Hall, one of the university halls of residence. The Beaumonts deserve to be remembered for the building work that they carried out. One local project completed during the period of Robert de Beaumont was the West Bridge over the River Soar. The first earl was also responsible for building the church of St Mary de Castro at Castle Mount and establishing with it a college of twelve canons and a dean. Robert de Beaumont built St Mary’s to replace an earlier church that the Normans had destroyed when building the castle, and no doubt hoped to accrue grace for his soul by carrying out this project.


The second Beaumont earl, Robert le Bossu, continued in the same vein as his father and founded an Augustinian abbey and church where Abbey Park lies today, a site that was then outside the town. The fervour for monasticism in Europe was at its height in the eleventh and twelfth centuries, and the founding of Leicester Abbey should be seen against this backdrop. The abbey church was said to have been a magnificent stone structure, comparable in scale to Westminster Abbey, with a high square tower and a richly ornamented interior.4 Robert le Bossu died before it was completed, but the building work was continued by his daughter-in-law Petronilla, who commissioned and paid for the church nave. A curious story tells that Petronilla had a rope made of her own hair and that the rope was used to suspend a lamp from the choir roof.5 The abbey became one of the wealthiest monastic houses in England. Inevitably it did not survive the Reformation, when the abbey church was stripped of its riches and destroyed.
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West Bridge: a drawing by Leicester artist John Flower. This image is taken from J. Flower, Views of Ancient Buildings in the Town and County of Leicester (Leicester, 1825), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


The Beaumont family also developed the castle, replacing the wooden defences with stone, and in about 1150 Robert le Bossu also built the great hall, a large aisled hall divided into six bays situated in the castle bailey. From the thirteenth to the late twentieth century this was used to accommodate the local assizes and is still used for ceremonial occasions today. Unfortunately many medieval features of the hall were seriously damaged over the centuries, especially by an intensive renovation in 1821.


The more positive contributions of the Beaumonts ended with the rise to power of the third Earl of Leicester, Robert Blanchmains, who brought catastrophe to the town by taking part in a rebellion against Henry II in 1173. The rebellion failed and Robert Blanchmains was killed in battle. This did not stop the king’s forces from wreaking revenge on Leicester, significantly damaging the castle and destroying large swathes of the town. Enormous suffering was inflicted on the townspeople: many were killed, imprisoned or punitively fined, while others escaped and sought refuge in towns as far away as St Albans and Bury St Edmunds. The population was sadly diminished, and the survivors were left among ruined buildings. It took several decades to recover, and some of the northern parts of the medieval town never did, being given over to alternative use such as the cultivation of orchards.6
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Leicester Castle: an eighteenth-century view. This image is taken from J. Throsby, The History and Antiquities of the Ancient Town of Leicester (Leicester, 1791), courtesy of the University of Leicester Special Collections.


The son of Robert Blanchmains, the fourth earl, took little interest in Leicester, and with him the family line ended. After his death the earldom passed to another family whose name remains well known in Leicester, the Montforts.


The Montforts


Both the fifth and sixth Earls of Leicester, father and son, were called Simon de Montfort. They were nobles who belonged to a prominent French dynasty, and their claim to the earldom of Leicester originated from Amicia de Beaumont, the sister of the third Earl of Leicester, who married into the Montfort family. The younger Simon de Montfort has been celebrated as the creator of the first elected English Parliament, as we shall see, and for this reason, modern civic leaders have sought to represent him as part of Leicester’s heritage. His image decorates the Victorian clock tower in the centre of the city, and the concert hall built in 1913 was named the De Montfort Hall as an expression of local pride. There are also roads and a square named after him. When Leicester Polytechnic gained university status in the 1990s it continued the tradition by taking the name De Montfort University. This continuing link between Leicester and the name Montfort justifies a closer look at the men behind the myth.7


The elder Simon de Montfort was only notionally the Earl of Leicester. He was a crusader and a general of international reputation, famous or, to modern thinking, notorious for his brutal suppression of the Cathars during the Albigensian crusade in the south of France. Montfort’s claim to the earldom of Leicester was recognised by the English sovereign King John, but his status as a French subject was an obstacle to him actively taking up his inheritance. Moreover, this powerful figure who allegedly had a following among John’s enemies in England would undoubtedly have seemed a threat, and John preferred to transfer responsibility for Leicester to a series of caretakers. Montfort, therefore, remained a distant figure who never took up his position among the English barons or lived in England. He was killed in battle at the Siege of Toulouse in 1218.


The younger Simon de Montfort, unlike his father, did establish himself in England, where he became a major player on the national stage. Little is known about his early life, but it is likely that after his father’s death he was involved with his elder brother Amaury in the renewed crusade against the Cathars. By 1230 he was in his early twenties and had poor financial prospects; as a result, the possibility of exploiting his Leicester connection was attractive. Montfort himself tells us what he did next: ‘I went to England and asked my lord the King to give me my father’s inheritance.’8 This mission was successfully accomplished, and he acquired the honour of Leicester with the permission of Henry III. Unlike his father he did not hold any land belonging to the French king, which meant that his claim was not automatically debarred. Even so it was still a notable achievement for Montfort to gain Henry’s trust and cooperation, and it was the first of many achievements that resulted in his ascent to power.


Montfort displayed energy and political intelligence, and rapidly became a valued advisor to Henry III. At first the income he squeezed out of Leicester was absolutely essential to him, but his position and income were greatly enhanced when he married the king’s sister in 1238. However, his relationship with Henry deteriorated, and in 1263 to 1264 he led a group of barons in rebellion against the king. This culminated in military success at the Battle of Lewes in 1264. Henry and his son, the future Edward I, were held captive while Montfort became, in effect, the ruler of England for the next two years. The rebellion was a reaction to alleged mismanagement of government by Henry, and was the culmination of a radical reform movement that sought to constrain royal power with a Parliament that placed the sovereign under institutional control. The reforms also sought to address abuse of power more generally, checking not only the conduct of the king but also the conduct of barons toward their tenants. A reforming Parliament was held in 1264, and for the first time the principle of election was introduced, with shires and selected boroughs, including Leicester, asked to send two elected representatives. For this reason Simon de Montfort has frequently been credited as a pioneer of the modern Parliamentary system. His regime, however, was eroded by factionalism and soon collapsed. Montfort had a close circle of allies of his own rank, and he also looked for support to the Church and wider society. However, outside his inner circle he had many enemies among the barons, and because of these divisions he lost power. Prince Edward escaped captivity and was able to muster a royal force, which defeated Montfort and his followers at the Battle of Evesham in 1265. Montfort himself was killed during the fighting.


Unsurprisingly, there are differences between Simon de Montfort the historical figure and the heroic Simon de Montfort created by myth and tradition. His public cause was the reform of English government, and his actions showed commitment to this; however, his commitment was clearly not just to the common good. He was consistently quick to advance his own interests in terms of power and wealth, and he used the disorder caused by the rebellion to significantly enrich himself and his family. Montfort’s relationship with Leicester was chiefly about the income that he derived from the estate, although he did secure a number of benefits for the town. These included a transfer of pastureland to the town as well as an exemption from the royal right to claim a share of the goods from any fair held in Leicester. Notoriously, Montfort expelled the Jews from Leicester, demonstrating the same militant and intolerant religious zeal that his father had shown before him. It is perhaps understandable, however, why Victorian civic leaders in Leicester were keen to publicise the connection with Montfort and play down the more unattractive aspects of his character. His successful takeover of the country for two years made him a towering figure of his time, and the connection was thought to add grandeur to the profile of the modern town.


The Plantagenets


After Montfort’s perceived treason and defeat, Henry III took back the earldom of Leicester and awarded it to his second son, Edmund Crouchback. In this way the castle and estates at Leicester fell into the hands of another famous medieval family, the Plantagenets. Unfortunately for the town, the fact that the Leicester Plantagenets were related to the king did not curb the recalcitrance of some of the earls. In 1324, Earl Thomas, the second Plantagenet earl, entered into hostilities with Edward II, which resulted in the town being sacked. A few years later it was plundered yet again, when under the control of the third Plantagenet lord, Earl Henry.


However, after the horrors of the 1320s the Plantagenets made a contribution to both the welfare and the built environment of Leicester. Having survived the early crises of his ascendancy, Earl Henry spent most of his years quietly at Leicester Castle, and during this time he built a hospital near the castle mound. This foundation had the capacity to care for fifty inmates, some temporary, some permanent, and was referred to as the New Work. The name The Newarke, as this area became known, is derived from this. After Henry’s death in 1345 his son, the fourth earl and also named Henry, succeeded him and developed the project further.


This fourth Earl of Leicester achieved significant prestige both as a military leader in the Hundred Years War with France and as an advisor to Edward III. In recognition of his achievements he was created Duke of Lancaster in addition to his inherited status as Earl of Leicester. Under his rule, Leicester continued to enjoy peace and prosperity, and the town benefited from his talents when he planned and began an ambitious extension to his father’s building works near the castle mound. The hospital was expanded and a college established at the same site. Work also began on the construction of a magnificent new collegiate church. While the fourth earl was in France in 1351 the French king, John II had presented him with a sacred relic, a thorn allegedly from Jesus’ crown of thorns, and the plan was to build a church fit to house this precious gift. Earl Henry did not live to see his church, as he died in Leicester in 1361, a victim of the Black Death. The church, which became known as St Mary in the Newarke, took more than fifty years to build and was finally completed in 1415. The elaborate complex of buildings in the Newarke became a centre of learning and pilgrimage, but unfortunately little remains today. A part of the hospital was preserved, and some minimal traces of the church can be seen within the Fletcher building on the De Montfort University campus. Also remaining is the stone archway that formed the entrance to the Newarke. This archway later became known as the Magazine, after being used to store arms during the seventeenth century.
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